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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
CLARA R. FULLER,
Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo. 16-2415-DDC-JPO

STATE OF KANSAS, DEPARTMENT
OF CHILDREN & FAMILIES,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Pro se plaintiff Clara R. Fullébrings this lawsuit against her former employer, the
Kansas Department of Children and Families (“DICHPIlaintiff alleges that DCF terminated her
employment because of her race, violating Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.
§§ 2000e—2000e-1%7.

This matter comes before the court on several motions filed by each party, including
DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 14®or reasons explained below, the court

grants DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgmewtnd, the court dismisses the case.

! Because plaintiff proceeds pro se, the courttcoes her pleadings liberally and holds them to a

less stringent standard than those drafted by lawyé¢a.v. Bellmon 935 F.2d 1106, 1110 (10th Cir.
1991). But the court does not assume the role of plaintiff's advolthtéNor does plaintiff's pro se
status excuse her from complying with the courtlseswr facing the consequences of noncompliance.
Nielsen v. Pricel7 F.3d 1276, 1277 (10th Cir. 1994).

2 Plaintiff also had asserted claims against DCF under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. But the court has held thatrsmreimmunity bars those claims. Doc. 23 at 5-6;
Doc. 70 at 9-10; Doc. 139 at 13 (Pretrial Order $4d¢; also Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Brant&y0 F.3d

1256, 1267 (10th Cir. 2007) (“The sdgjuent pretrial order supercedes the pleadings.”). Plaintiff's Title
VII claim is the only claim remaining against DCF in this lawsuit.
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DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgment

Before turning to the substance of BE€ Motion for Summary Judgment against
plaintiff's Title VII claim, the court considettsvo motions plaintiff hadiled that address the
summary judgment briefing.

A. Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration

On May 23, 2019, DCF filed its Motion for Surany Judgment. Doc. 140. Our court’s
local rules required plaintiff to file her Merandum in Opposition to the Motion within 21
days. D. Kan. Rule 6.1(d)(2). On May 28, 2019, plaintiff filed a Motion for Extension of Time.
Doc. 143. Plaintiff’'s motion asked the court &n extension of time to respond to DCF'’s
Motion for Summary Judgent, but it never specified tlaenount of time she was seeking.
Nevertheless, the court granted plaintiff's tido for Extension of Time and extended her
response time from June 13, 2019 to June 24, 2019. Doc. 145. And, consistent with the court’s
Order, plaintiff filed a Response to DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgment on June 24, 2019.
Doc. 149.

But, before filing that Response, am& 14, 2019, plaintiff filed a “Motion for
Reconsideration for an Extension of TimeRespond to Defendant’s Summary Judgment.”
Doc. 146. This motion is difficult to understanid.appears to respond the court’s Order
granting plaintiff’s Motion for Extension of Timegecause it explains why plaintiff neglected to
cite and follow the local rule when she sougheatension of time in her original motion. But
the Motion for Reconsideration doesn’t ask for mioree to file a response to DCF’s Motion for

Summary Judgment. And indgeplaintiff filed her Respomson June 24, 2019—the extended



due daté. Thus, the court denies as moot piidits “Motion for Reconsideration for an
Extension of Time to Respond to Defendant’s Summary Judgment” (Doc. 146).

B. Plaintiff's Motion to Strike Exhibit Three

Plaintiff has filed a “Motion to Strike Defendts’ Exhibit Three.” Doc. 148. Plaintiff's
motion asks the court to strike one of thdibits attached to DCF’s Motion for Summary
Judgment. And it invokes Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). at 1. Rule 12(f) permits the court to “strike
from a pleadingan insufficient defense or any redundaminaterial, impertinent, or scandalous
matter.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f) (emphasis adde&dyr court has refused to apply Rule 12(f) to
strike a reply and exhibits filed with the replycbese this Rule applies only to “pleading&:dx
v. Pittsburg State Uniy258 F. Supp. 3d 1243, 1251 (D. Kan. 2017) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 7(a)
(listing documents coidered pleadings)xsee alsdNilliams v. Alpine Banks of ColdNo. Civ.

A. 05CV02475WDMME, 2006 WL 85333, at *2 (D. Colo. Apr. 7, 2006) (denying a motion to
strike because “[o]nly [the documents listedRinle 7(a)] constitute pleadings under the Federal
Rules” and “[m]otions, briefs in support of matis, responses to motions, replies to responses to
motions, and other papers ard pleadings under the Federal Rules and cannot be stricken by
the [c]ourt under Rule 12(f)").

Instead of striking proffered summary judgmenwidence, the “better approach is for the
court to consider each [piece of proffered evidence] and, to the extent it may assert a fact which
is not admissible evidence, simply exclude the retpgefact from the cotis ultimate findings.”
Murray v. Edwards Cty. Sheriff's Dep453 F. Supp. 2d 1280, 1284 (D. Kan. 2006) (denying a

motion to strike an affidavit on summary judgmes®e alsaJones v. Barnhart349 F.3d 1260,

3 Plaintiff also filed a Supplement to her Response. Doc. 152. And a “Second Reply

Memorandum in Support of [Her] Motion to Resistf@@lant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.” Doc.
154. Although plaintiff's filings are not proper undbe court’s procedural rules, the court nevertheless
has read and considered her additional filingemtteciding DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgment.
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1270 (10th Cir. 2003) (affirming distti court’s evidentiary ruling #t denied a motion to strike
an affidavit on summary judgment and, instead, “detia the declarations the extent that they
contained relevant and admissilshaterial, ignoring inadmissibéand irrelevant statements”);
Nelson v. Allstate Ins. CdNo. 92-2309-JWL, 1993 WL 10512& *6 (D. Kan. Mar. 8, 1993)
(denying a motion to strike an affidavit and holdthgt “[i]f the affidavit contains material that
is not admissible or relevantgth it will be ignored by the cout). The court follows that
approach here and thus deniesmiléfis Motion to Strike (Doc. 148).

Also, the court rejects theigstance of the argument pldihadvances in her motion—
i.e.,, that Exhibit Three is inadmissible evidencesommary judgment. Exhibit Three is a chart
summarizing information taken from two of BG employee productivity charts. Plaintiff
asserts that Exhibit Three is inadmissibkecause DCF didn’t produce the chart during
discovery. She contends “[t]his is the fitishe Plaintiff has actuallgee[n] this exhibiin this
format” Doc. 148 at 1 (emphasis added). With stetement, plaintiff appears to concede that
DCF has produced the information that the chamimarizes, but just ia different format.
Indeed, DCF previously disclosed the underdyproductivity charts. DCF attached the
productivity charts as arxkibit to a motion that DCHIed on August 2, 2016—shortly after
plaintiff filed this lawsuit. SeeDoc. 11-3 (Aff. of Ronald Blake Exs. A & B). Also, plaintiff
has stipulated to the admissibility of the urigiag productivity charts “for purposes of
summary judgment and trial.” Dot39 at 6 (PretricOrder 11 2.b.1., 2.b.2.).

DCF argues that Exhibit Tee is admissible evidence on summary judgment under Fed.
R. Evid. 1006. Rule 1006 allows a proponeng¢wflence to “use a summary, chart, or
calculation to prove the content of voluminaustings . . . that cannot be conveniently

examined in court.” The Rule requires thegmnent to “make the igiinals or duplicates



available for examination and copying, or both, byeotparties at a reasdsia time and place.”

Id. “Although the information upon which a Rule 1006 summary is created need not itself be
admitted into evidence, it must still be admissibleriited States v. Channp881 F.3d 806,

810 (10th Cir. 2018) (citinynited States v. Irvin682 F.3d 1254, 1261 (10th Cir. 2012)).

Here, plaintiff never argues thACF failed to disclose the undigng data to her, or that
the underlying data is inadmissible evidence. To the contrary,dbedrehows that DCF
previously disclosed the productivitharts and the parties have stiied to their admissibility.
SeeDoc. 11-3; Doc. 139 at 6. Thus, theadhsummarizing the data from the underlying
productivity charts is admissible under Fed. R. Evid. 1006.

Also, the court rejects plaintiff’'s argument that Exhibit Three is an untimely
supplemental disclosure. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(gli(Arequires a party téprovide to the other
parties . . . an identification of each document or other exhibitjding summaries of other
evidence—separately identifying those itanthe party expects to offer [at trial] and those it may
offer if the need arises.Id. (emphasis added). And Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(3)(B) requires a party
to make such disclosures “at least 30 days before trial.” So, DCF had satisfied Rule 26’s
disclosure requirement for trial, but this nootiis lodged at the summary judgment stage.

As the Seventh Circuit has recognizedul®&1006 requires only that the summarized
documents be made available to the opposiny paw ‘reasonable time’; it does not say when
the summaries must be made available to thigpdor that matter, it nowhere states that the
summaries must be made dahle to the opposing party Fidelity Nat'l Title Ins. Co. v.
Intercounty Nat'l Title Ins. Cp412 F.3d 745, 752 (7th Cir. 2005) (Posner, J.). But, the court
continued, finding that “[n]o federal rule ie@ded, however, to empower a district judge to

prevent a party from springing summaries of thousands of documents on the opposing party so



late in the day that the party can’t check tlagicuracy against the summarized documents before
trial.” 1d. That's not what happened here. DCF’s tBammarizes just two pages of employee
productivity reports. Doc. 11-3 at 3—4 (Blakeff.AXxs. A & B). And plaintiff had plenty of

time to review the summary chart’s accuraegyween the time when DCF filed its Motion for
Summary Judgment on May 23, 2019, and whemfji&filed her Response on June 24, 2019.

Under similar facts, the Fir€ircuit held that a distrt court did not err when, on
summary judgment, it considered a summary abfdtie plaintiff's “extensive record of work
attendance over her near two-decade periahgfloyment” because Rule 1006 “provides that
only the underlying documents, not the summatiemselves, must be produced to the opposing
party,” and thus the defendant “had no oligato provide the charts to [plaintiff].Colon-
Fontanez v. Munipality of San Juan660 F.3d 17, 29-32 (1st Cir. 2011). For the same reasons,
the court concludes that Exitirhree contains admissible egiice on summary judgment.

But, after reviewing the information thaklibit Three summarizethe court has noted a
few errors. CompareDoc. 11-3 at 3 (showing that employes. processed 64 applications and
plaintiff processed one appditon between January 19-22, 200&h Doc. 141-3 (showing that
employee F.S. processed zero applications aadtfif processed five applications between
January 19-22, 2019) So, when deciding DCF’s summauggment motion, the court uses the
underlying employee productivity charts (Aff. obRald Blaker & Exs. A & B) for the accurate
information, and not the summary chart.

C. DCF’s Motion for Summary Judgment

Now, the court addresses the substarid@CF's Motion forSummary Judgment.

4 The court recognizes that the errors in the sumrolaayt actually favor plaintiff. The chart’s
incorrect numbers show that plaintiff was mpreductive than her actual productivity numbers in the
underlying employee productivity reports.



1. Uncontroverted Facts

The following facts are either stipulated fatstken from the Pretrial Order (Doc. 139), or
uncontroverted for purposes of DCF’s summary judgment métion.

Every year, the State of Kansas admersta Low Income Energy Assistance Program
(“LIEAP™). Doc. 11-4 at 1 (Kimmons Aff{{ 4-5). And each year, DCF hires temporary
Human Services Assistants tmpess Applications fdbenefits under LIEAP. Doc. 139 at 4
(Pretrial Order 1 2.a.2.). The program remsry year from mid-January through March.
Kimmons Aff. § 5. But follow-up work for thprogram may require some temporary employees
to remain employed until May or Junkl.

In 2014, DCF hired plaintiff as a temporaymployee and Human Services Assistant for
LIEAP. Pretrial Order 1 2.a.3.; Doc. 11-21a® (Locke Aff. 1 4-5)During the 2014 LIEAP,
plaintiff worked less than three weeks processipglications. Pretrial Order § 2.a.4. Later,
DCF transferred plaintiff to thehone Bank because DCF needed more assistance in that area.

Id. T 6.

° Plaintiff's Response attempts to controvert DCF’s “Statement of Material Facts for Which There

Is No Genuine Issue.” Doc. 149-1 at 1-10. Rithihas followed the court’s local rule by numbering
“[e]ach fact in dispute . . . by paragraph” and “staffittlg number of [DCF’s] fact that is disputed.” D.
Kan. Rule 56.1(b)(1). But, in many instances, fiiihas failed to “refer with particularity to those
portions of the record upon which the opposingypasties” to controvert DCF’s material factkl.

Also, many of plaintiff's factual statements include improper argument.

Although plaintiff proceeds pro se, her stadigsa pro se litigant does not relieve her of the
obligation to follow the court’s rulesSee Nielsen v. Pricd7 F.3d 1276, 1277 (10th Cir. 1994) (“This
court has repeatedly insisted that pro se partlEssfahe same rules of procedure that govern other
litigants.” (citations and internal quotation marks onaifje Also, plaintiff knows about the federal and
local rules governing summary judgment practieeduse DCF served her with a “Notice to Pro Se
Litigant Who Opposes a Motion for Summary Judgmieag,our local rule, D. Kan. Rule 56.1(f),
requires. Doc. 142. So, when reciting the unmwetrted facts, the court does not accept any of
plaintiff's factual statements that aren’t suppdrey proper evidence. Also, the court disregards
plaintiff's improper argument.



In 2016, DCF rehired plaintiff for the 2016 LIEPA Pretrial Order § 2.a.22. DCF hired
plaintiff as a temporary LIEAP Human SeregcAssistant in the Economic and Employment
Services (“EES”) department. Pretrial Orde2.a.28.; Locke Aff. § 3. Shannon Connell and
Lewis Kimsey recommended that DCF rehire mtiffiin 2016. Doc. 11-1 at 1 (Kimsey Aff. |
3). Mr. Kimsey has served as the LIEAPMger since December 2013. Doc. 141-2 at 10
(Defs.” Resp. to Pl.’s Interrog. No. 18). Althduglaintiff was not abl¢o provide a reference
from a prior employe?,Mr. Kimsey accepted her earlier work experience with the LIEAP in lieu
of her providing a reference. Kimsey Aff. { 4.

All LIEAP Human Services Assistantsedhnired as a “999 temporary employee,”
meaning that they cannot work more than 999 feuithin one year of their hire date. Locke
Aff. 1 5. For the 2016 LIEAP, only four tempoyamployees were new hires. Kimsey Aff. |
13. The initials of the four new hires are N.D., B.B., P.L., and 8BThe rest of the
temporary employees were re-hiréd. at  12. All employees in the 2016 LIEAP received the
same training. Kimsey Aff. § 20; Doc. 11-52afHenderson Aff. § 11). Plaintiff received
training for the LIEAP during her first emploment with DCF in 2014, and again during her

second employment in 2016. Doc. 141-1 at 44Resp. to Defs.” Req. for Admis. No. 14).

6 Plaintiff asserts that, in fact, she supplied a refme Doc. 149-1 at 3. For support, she relies on

an unauthenticated email sent “in response tomaiefplaintiff] sent to the General Dynamics corporate
office.” Doc. 149-2 at 2. Even if the coududd consider this evidence as admissible on summary
judgment, the email doesn’t provide plaintiff angayment reference. It merely provides contact
information for inquires seeking employment referendds.Also, with her summary judgment exhibits,
plaintiff includes an email from DCF advising plaiftifiat it has not received a manager’s reference for
her from any previous employers due to companiciesl and that DCF requires a reference that can
speak to her work habits to continue with the recreithprocess. Doc. 149-2 at 3. In sum, plaintiff has
failed to controvert DCF’s factual statement thaintiff was unable to provide a reference from a prior
employer but that Mr. Kimsey accepted her earlier vexerience with the LIEAP in lieu of providing a
reference.



Stephanie Henderson, a black female, wesdhby DCF as a temporary employee to
serve as Human Services AsaigfSite Manager for the 2016BAP. Pretrial Order 11 2.a.11—-
12.; Henderson Aff. 1 1, 5; Locke Aff. { 7.kkiplaintiff, Ms. Henderson was a rehire for
LIEAP. Pretrial Order 1 2.a.27.; Henderson AffZ. And, as a Site Manager, Ms. Henderson
knew what appropriate production levels wenedmployees, especially for employees who had
worked previously for LIEAP. Henderson Aff. { 7.

In 2016, DCF did not impose daily or weekjyotas on each LIEABmployee or for the
program as a whole, although DCF had used a quota system in past years. Kimsey Aff. { 18.
But DCF did collect processing and registratitata for each LIEAP employee, and it prepared
weekly productivity reports fohbse employees. Doc. 11-3 at 1 (Blaker Aff. 1 4). The reports
show both the number of processed applicatiomisthe number of pendimgplications for each
day and the total for the weédr each LIEAP employee. Kimsey Aff. 6. Human Services
Assistant Ronald Blaker prepared the wegdthyductivity reports and submitted them to LIEAP
Manager Lewis Kimsey. Blaker Aff. 11 1, 4; KieysAff. 1 11. Mr. Blaker began the process of
tracking employee productivity oadCF began taking applicatis and after training had
concluded. Doc. 141-2 at 8 (Defs.’ Resp. to Pl.’s Interrog. No. 14).

In 2016, five of the 17 LIEAP employees waigsigned other duties in addition to their
responsibilities to process andjiger applications. Kimsey Aff{ 6, 8-10; Henderson Aff. I 9.
For example, as discussed above, Stephaniedtgmd performed managerial duties in her role
as Site Manager. Kimsey Aff. § 8; Henderson Aff. 1 8-9. Employee M.H. was a full-time DCF

employee temporarily assigned to assist with LFEAerving primarily as the filing clerk for the

! The parties stipulated to the fact that “[a]ll of the temporary Human Services Assistants spent the
first two weeks in training during the 2016 LIEAP program in Kansas City, Kansas.” Pretrial Order
2.a.30. And, the parties stipulated that plaintiff's hire date was January 3,1209&8.

9



program. Kimsey Aff. § 14. Employee EWas assigned the mail room and filing as his
primary responsibilitiesid. § 15. E.D. did not perform amyocessing and assisted with
registrations only as time permitteltl. Employee L.S. was the dedicated employee assigned to
handle applications received by facsimile or amliwhich is a more time-consuming process.
Doc. 141-2 at 9-10 (Defs.’ Resp. to Pl.’s Intgrrblo. 17). And, as discussed, Ronald Blaker
was responsible for working with IT to geate production reports. Kimsey Aff. { 10;

Henderson Aff. 9. Also, Mr. Bker was the “lead worker” nesnsible for training, processing
tough cases, and specialty work. Kimsey Aff. BRker Aff. 5. His primary responsibilities
were not processing and refgation. Kimsey Aff. § 9.

The employee productivity charts for Janua®yto February 12, 2016 show that—among
the 12 LIEAP employees who did not have ofjob responsibilities—plaintiff had the second
lowest productivity numbers for Hoprocessed and registered amtliens. Blaker Aff. Exs. A
& B. Employee C.D. registered twower applications than plaintiffid. But he processed a
total of 570 applications comparedpiaintiff’'s 72 processed applicationkl. C.D.’s combined
number of processed and registeapplications was 828 applias compared to plaintiff's
total of 332 applicationsld. The employee with the lowestmber of processed applications
was C.T.Ild. DCF terminated C.T.’s employmeon February 12, 2016—the same day DCF
terminated plaintiff's employment. Doc. 149-2 at 19 (Thomas Aff. { 4); Pretrial Order { 2.a.29.
Of the group of the 12 LIEAP employees, the emoployees with the lovee total number of
registered and processed applicasiovere plaintiff and C.T. Blaker Aff. Exs. A & B.

On February 12, 2016, Site Manager Steph&tenderson recommended to her direct
supervisor, LIEAP Manager Lewis Kimsey, tlAEF terminate plaintiff's employment based on

her substandard performance. HendersonA%. Kimsey Aff. 1 5. Ms. Henderson made her

10



recommendation based on her personal observatiplaintiff's work performance as well as

her charted performance in the employee produgtreports. Henderson Aff. § 4. Based on the
productivity reports, LIEAP Manager Lewis Kimsey also concluded that plaintiff was not
performing at an acceptable level. Kimg&y. 11 5-6. And, he recommended to Sandra
Kimmons (Director of EES) that DCF termingdiaintiff’s employmenfor “sub-standard job
performance as charted and evidencefth®y employee prodtiwity reports].” Id. § 5.

On February 12, 2016, DCF terminated iplii’'s employment for substandard
performance. Kimmons Aff. § 7. Ms. Kimmosigned the termination letter plaintiff received
on February 12, 2016. Pretrialder I 2.a.29.; Kimmons Aff. 8 & Ex. 1. On the day of
plaintiff's termination, Ms. Kimmons had no spiciecollection of plaintiff although she may
have interviewed plaintiff in #npast. Kimmons Aff. 9.

Ms. Kimmons, Mr. Kimsey, and Ms. Hendersantend that race was not a factor in the
decision to terminate plaintiff's employmeriimmons Aff. {1 10, 12; Kimsey Aff. | 21;
Henderson Aff. 6. Of the 17 employees hi@dhe 2016 LIEAP in the Kansas City region,
six of those employees were black femailesluding Site Manager 8phanie Henderson, who
later recommended terminating plaintiff's empimgnt. Kimsey Aff. § 17; Henderson Aff. 1 3—
5. DCF did not hire anyone teplace plaintiff after her temination. Kimsey Aff. § 16;
Henderson Aff. { 10.

Plaintiff believes she “was terminateddause [Stephanie Henderson] felt her position
was in jeopardy due to the fact [plaintiff] posses$fa Master’'s Degree in Public Administration
with a major in Administration and OrganizatibrDoc. 149-2 at 4 (Fuller Aff. 1 1). Also,

plaintiff asserts that Ms. Henderson “perceijj@dintiff] as a threat to her temporary Site

11



Manager/Human Services Assistant positienduse her predecessor was a permanent Site
Manager, Veronica Knight.ld. 5.
2. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is apmpriate if the moving paytdemonstrates that “rgenuine
dispute [about] any material fact” exists ahdlt it “is entitled to judgment as a mattedaf.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). When applying thigrstard, the court views the evidence and draws
inferences in the light most\farable to the non-moving partifNahno-Lopez v. House825
F.3d 1279, 1283 (10th Cir. 2010). A pliged “issue of fact is ‘gaiine’ ‘if the evidence is such
that a reasonable jugould return a verdict for theon-moving party’ on the issueld. (quoting
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). And ‘assue of fact is ‘material’
‘if under the substantive law it is essential te gnoper disposition of the claim’ or defenséd’
(quotingAdler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Incl44 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

The moving party bears “botie initial burden of production on a motion for summary
judgment and the burden of establishing that surpob@gment is appropriate as a matter of
law.” Kannady v. City of Kiowgb90 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010) (quofimginor v.
Apollo Metal Specialties, Inc318 F.3d 976, 979 (10th Cir. 2002)). To cdhig burden, the

moving party “need not negateetmon-movant’s claim, but needly point to an absence of
evidence to support the non-movant’s claimd’ (quotingSigmon v. CommunityCare HMO,
Inc., 234 F.3d 1121, 1125 (10th Cir. 2000)).

If the moving party meets its initial buntiethe non-moving party fhay not rest upon its
pleadings, but must bring forward specific fagtt®wing a genuine isstier trial [on] those

dispositive matters for which darries the burden of proof.’Id. (quotingJenkins v. Woqd1

F.3d 988, 990 (10th Cir. 19963¢e also Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986);
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Anderson477 U.S. at 248-49. “To accomplish this, the facts must be identified by reference to
affidavits, deposition trangpts, or specific exhibits incorporated thereitler, 144 F.3d at
671 (citingThomas v. Wichita Coca-Cola Bottling C868 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th Cir. 1992)).
“Unsubstantiated allegations carry no probatixght in summary judgment proceedings.”
Bones v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc366 F.3d 869, 875 (10th Cir. 2004) (citiRgillips v. Calhoun
956 F.2d 949, 951 n.3 (10th Cir. 1992)). To survive summary judgment, the non-moving party’s
“evidence, including testimony, must be basedname than mere speculation, conjecture, or
surmise.” Id. (citing Rice v. United State466 F.3d 1088, 1092 (10th Cir. 1999)).

Summary judgment is nat“disfavored procedurahortcut.” Celotex 477 U.S. at 327.
To the contrary, it is an important prokcge “designed ‘to secure the just, speedy and

inexpensive determinaticof every action.”ld. (quoting Fed. RCiv. P. 1)8

8 When reciting the legal standard governing summary judgment, plaintiff asserts that “[sJummary

judgments ‘should seldom be used in employment discrimination cases.” Doc. 149-1 at 11 (quoting
O’Shea v. Yellow Tech. Servs., |rk85 F.3d 1093, 1098 (10th Cir. 1999D.:Sheawas a sexual
harassment case alleging hostile work environmightat 1096. There, our Circuit noted, in the context
of sexual harassment claims, that “the severitypardasiveness evaluation is particularly unsuited for
summary judgment because it is quintessentially a question of fdcat 1098 (citations and internal
guotation marks omitted). And, usingfasignal, the Circuit cited an Eighth Circuit case for a different
but somewhat analogous propositiones that “summary judgment should seldom be used in
employment discrimination cases.Itl. (quotingSmith v. St. Louis Univ109 F.3d 1261, 1264 (8th Cir.
1997)). Since then, the Eighth Circuit sittieig banchas overrule@mithand other cases “asserting a
different standard of review for summary judgment in employment discrimination cases” because such a
standard is “contrary to Supreme Court precedehtfgerson v. City of Rochesté&43 F.3d 1031, 1043
(8th Cir. 2011). InTorgersonthe Eighth Circuit held: “There is no ‘discrimination case exception’ to
the application of summary judgment, which isseful pretrial tool to determine whether any case,
including one alleging discrimination, merits a triald. For obvious reasons, the court declines
plaintiff's invitation to apply the standardeskites from an overruled Eighth Circuit case.

Also, plaintiff asserts that “[bJecause discrimioaticlaims often turn on the employer’s intent;
courts ordinarily consider summary judgment inappropriate to settle an issue like intent.” Doc. 149-1 at
11 (citingCone v. Longmont United Hosp. Assld F.3d 526, 530 (10th Cir. 1994)). BGgneheld that
“[a]lthough summary judgment is not ordinarily approf&itor settling issues of intent or motivation . . .
all of [plaintiff's] evidence together is insuffemt to raise doubts about [defendant’s] motivatiolal.”at
530. So, in that case, the Circuit affirmed summary judgment against plaintiff's employment
discrimination claim.ld. at 530, 533.Conethus does not preclude the court from granting summary
judgment in an employment discrimination case. To the contanyeallows summary judgment when
the factual record presents no triable issues about an employer’s intent.

13



3. Analysis

DCF seeks summary judgment against plHiatTitle VII claim because, DCF contends,
the summary judgment facts, viewed in the ligiust favorable to plaintiff, present no triable
issue whether DCF terminated pl#iftes employment based on her race.

The court analyzes plaintiff's Title Vtlaim under the burden-shifting framework of
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792 (1973)See Khalik v. United Air Line§71
F.3d 1188, 1192 (10th Cir. 2012) (applyiMgDonnell Douglago Title VII claim). The
McDonnell Douglasramework involves a three-step analydizarrett v. Hewlett-Packard Cp.
305 F.3d 1210, 1216 (10th Cir. 2002).

First, a plaintiff must prove a jpna facie case of discriminationd.; see also Khalik671
F.3d at 1192. A prima facie case of discrintima requires plaintifto demonstrate thaty(1)
she is a member of a protected class, (2) she suffered an adverse employment action, (3) she
qualified for the position at issue, and (4) she tmaated less favorablydh others not in the
protected class.’Khalik, 671 F.3d at 1192 (citin§anchez v. Denver Pub. S¢Hi$4 F.3d 527,
531 (10th Cir. 1998))see also Plotke v. Whjté05 F.3d 1092, 1100 (10th Cir. 2005) (explaining
that “the fourth element of a prima facie case flexible one that can be satisfied differently in
varying scenarios” and “[t]he ¢ical prima facie inquiry in all c&s is whether the plaintiff has
demonstrated that the adverse employment aotioarred under circumstances which give rise
to an inference of unlawful discrimination” (erhal citations and quotatianarks omitted)).

Next, if plaintiff meets her prima facie burdeghen the burden shifts to defendant “to
produce a legitimate, non-discriminatorasen for the adverse employment actiokHalik,

671 F.3d at 1192 (citinGarrett, 305 F.3d at 1216). And, lagtdefendant produces such a

reason, the burden then shifts back to plaitithow that “plaintiff's protected status was a
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determinative factor in the enggiment decision or that the eroper’s explanation is pretext.”
Id. (citing Garrett, 305 F.3d at 1216).
a. Prime Face Case

Here, DCF doesn't address the first step inMlo®onnell Douglagest—t.e., whether
plaintiff has satisfied her burddo establish a prima facie eagf discrimination. Thus, the
court will assume, without decidinthat plaintiff has presented aalole issue on the first step of
theMcDonnell Douglagdest.

b. Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason

Turning to the second step icDonnell DouglasDCF asserts that the summary
judgment facts present no genuine issue whether DCF terminated plaintiff’'s employment based
on the legitimate, non-discriminatory reason of samdard performance. The court agrees. The
employee productivity charts establish thatiptiff was one of th two least productive
employees during the 2016 LIEAP. The eaygle productivity chartshow the number of
applications that each of the 17 LIEAP em@ey processed and registered between January 19
and February 12, 2016. Plaintiff has not contrtacthe fact that five of the 17 LIEAP
employees were assigned other duties in addition to their responsibilities of processing and
registering applications. So, BEF explains, the productivity mbers for those five employees
are not comparable to the other 12 LIEAP employees because the five employees spent their
time performing managerial, filingraining, or other responsibilés in addition to processing
and registering applications.

After removing these five employees frone fbroductivity chartsrad considering only
the remaining 12 LIEAP employees, the uncontracefacts establish g@intiff had the second

lowest productivity for the totalumber of registered and processed applications. The employee
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with the lowest total number was C.T.—wh®@®€F also terminated from her employment on
February 12, 2016, the same day it terminated plaintiff.
c. Pretext

Finally, at the last step of tddcDonnell Douglagest, the burden shiftsack to plaintiff,
requiring her to establish a genuine issudrat whether DCF’s articulated reason for her
employment termination was pretext for disunation. “A plaintiff may show pretext by
demonstrating the proffered reason is factuallyefads that discriminadin was a primary factor
in the employer’s decision.DePaula v. Easter Seals El Mirad@59 F.3d 957, 970 (10th Cir.
2017) (citations and internal quotation markstbeai). A plaintiff can satisfy this burden “by
revealing weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsisites, incoherences, oontradictions in the
employer’s proffered reason, such that a reasorabldinder could deem the employer’s reason
unworthy of credence.”1d. (quotingTabor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206, 1216 (10th Cir. 2013)).
Here, plaintiff asserts she can dditgh pretext in several ways.

First, plaintiff contends that her work perfoance was not substandard. But plaintiff
cannot show pretext by asserting her subjediatef that she performed successfully. The
Tenth Circuit has cautioned courts that theyaymmot second guess the business judgment of the
employer.” Id. (citing Dewitt v. Sw. Bell Tel. Co845 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 201%¢e
also Jaramillo v. Colo. Judicial Dep'd27 F.3d 1303, 1308 (10th Cir. 2005) (“The courts may
not act as a super personnel departmentst@ind guesses employers’ business judgments.”
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). “In determining whether the proffered reason
for a decision was pretextual, [the court] examine[s] the facts as they &pteaperson
making the decisighand ‘do[es] not look to the pldiff's subjective evaluation of the

situation.” Id. (quotingEEOC v. C.R. England, Inc44 F.3d 1028, 1044 (10th Cir. 2011)).
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“Instead of asking whether the employer’s reasarere wise, fair ocorrect,” the relevant
inquiry is whether the employer ‘honestly lesied those reasons and acted in good faith upon
those beliefs.” Id. (quotingSwackhammer v. Sprint/United Mgmt. G493 F.3d 1160, 1170
(10th Cir. 2007)).

Here, the undisputed summary judgmentdastablish that Site Manager Stephanie
Henderson recommended to LIEAP Manager Iseimsey that DCF terminate plaintiff's
employment based on her substandard perfocsaMs. Henderson recommended plaintiff’s
termination based on her personal observationadhiff’'s work performance and plaintiff's low
productivity numbers, as documented by the enmgaqyroductivity reports. Mr. Kimsey agreed
that the productivity repts showed that plairffiwas performing at a sutadard level. So, he
recommended to EES Director Sandra Kimmowas BCF terminate plaintiff's employment for
substandard job performance. In sum,uhdisputed facts estatitishat DCF based its
termination decision on plaiffits poor performance as evidenced and documented by the
productivity reports.

Trying to create a question faict, plaintiff makes severabnclusory assertions to
discredit the reliability of the employeeqgaiuctivity reports used by DCF to make the
termination decision. Plaintiffantends that, like the five emplegs with other responsibilities,
she also had other responsibilities suchakecting, delivering, and sorting mail in the mail
room. Doc. 149-1 at 12. But plaintiff cites no summary judgment evidence to support this
purported fact, and the courtdaot found any evidence in teemmary judgment record to
support plaintiff's assertion. Ads plaintiff asserts, DCF assighene-page applications to new
hires while assigning seven-pagebgations to rehires, like gintiff. Doc. 149-1 at 3—4, 12-13.

Plaintiff contends that an engylee can register and process page applications more quickly
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than a longer applicatiorSee idat 4 (asserting that it takes amployee “usually less than ten
minutes” to process a one-page applicatiod that “is the only reason C.D. could have
processed more applications than any new lireshires.”). But agin, plaintiff provides no
summary judgment evidence to support this factual agserRlaintiff's assertions that her work
performance was not poor rely solely on hdrjsctive beliefs. And, plaintiff's subjective
evaluation of her work performance does not establish prebe®aulg 859 F.3d at 970 (“In
determining whether the proffered reason for asieciwas pretextual, [the court] . . . do[es] not
look to the plaintiff's subjective evaluation thfe situation.” (citatiorand internal quotation
marks omitted)).

Plaintiff also takes issue with DCF’ssertion that it began tracking employee
productivity once DCF began taking applicatiam&l after training concluded. The parties
stipulated in the Pretrial Ordéhat the 2016 LIEAP employees spére first two weeks of their
employment in training. Pretri@rder § 2.a.30. And, the part&fpulated, DCF hired plaintiff
on January 3, 2019d. { 28. The productivity reports begin tracking employees’ work on
January 19, 2019. Blaker Aff. Exs. A & B. Socetheginning date of the productivity reports is
consistent with the parties’igtilation that DCF began trackimgoductivity afte the two-week
training ended.

But plaintiff asserts thataining did not end until FBguary 1, 2019. Indeed, Site
Manager Stephanie Henderson asserts in her Affitlat training endedn that date. Doc. 11-
5 at 2 (Henderson Aff. § 12). This discrepancy, however, is maiterial disputed issue of fact
that precludes summary judgment against pgfEiTitle VII claim. The undisputed facts
establish that plaintiff was the second |lgastductive employee during the time DCF tracked

performance of all LIEAP employees. Even if training was not yet completed when tracking
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started, all employees had received the saaieing when DCF started tracking their
productivity. Kimsey Aff.  20; Henderson Affff 11-12. Also, plaintifhlready had received
training in 2014, during her prexis employment with DCF. So, her 2016 training represented
the second time she received training in the lPE#&ogram. This undisputed fact means that
plaintiff had received more training tharethew employees in 2016 when DCF began tracking
their work.

Also, if one disregards the productivity nbers before February 1, 2019, and considers
only the productivity numbers after that date, pheductivity reports show that plaintiff still was
one of the two least productive employees fernimber of total processed applications after
February 2. Plaintiff asserts that eluating the employees’ wogerformance for just “nine
days after the end of trainimpsses is not sufficient tinte evaluate an employee’s
performance.” Doc. 154 at 2. But plaintiffefs no summary judgment facts to support this
assertion. And, even if she had, it's nottbert’s job to “second-gs the business judgment
of the employer.”DePaulg 859 F.3d at 970 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

For all these reasons, the summary judgrfests do not present a triable issue whether
plaintiff's work performace was substandard.

Secondplaintiff asserts that DCF’s reason fomténating her employment is pretextual
because DCF never imposed quotas on its LIEAP employees. DCF concedes that it never
imposed any quotas. But, it's undisputed, DCF did track employee productivity using the
productivity reports. Plaintiff appears to cordubese two concepts ase. But, imposing a

guota on an employee differs from evaluating employee’s work performance based on

9 The productivity reports for February 1 thgh 12, 2019 show that plaintiff had 53 processed

applications. Employee C.T. had 11 processed egtjiins. All the other 1DIEAP employees had more
processed applications during this time tharm lpdaintiff and C.T.—the two employees who DCF
terminated on February 12, 2019.
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productivity. After making a productivity evalian, if the employer terminates an employee
for low productivity, that does not mean the employer has imposed a quota.

Also, as DCF explains, theWwadoes not require an emplayte base an employment
decision on a written policy—such as a quota.th&sTenth Circuit hasxplained, “an otherwise
reasonable justification for a business decisawgsn’t “somehow lose[ ] its legitimacy simply
because it reflects an exercise of managardginent rather than a ministerial execution of
written policy.” Medlock v. United Parcel Serv. In608 F.3d 1185, 1192 (10th Cir. 2010). To
the contrary, courts have decided “countless eympént discrimination cases . . . on the basis of
legitimate business justifications withoutyareference to formal policies necessarily
legitimizing those justifications.’ld. at 1193. To hold otherwise “would render suspect
innumerable decisions required in the pradtaperation of the workplace, leaving the
management of businesses open to just theofeecond-guessing tlvase law consistently
admonishes againstltd. So here, to the extent plaintiffleasthe court to find pretext because
DCF terminated plaintiff's employment baksen low productivity while not imposing any
production quotas, the court ded@sto do so. “The law does not permit, much less require”
such a finding “simply because [the businesdfjuent had not been preordained by a written
policy.” Id.

Third, plaintiff asserts her own beliefs about why DCF terminated her employment. But
plaintiff cites no admissible summary judgment evide to support her asgens. And plaintiff
can't establish pretext bad on mere speculatio®ee Lounds v. Lincare, In@12 F.3d 1208,
1237-38 (10th Cir. 2015) (affirming summary judgment against plaintiff's Title VIl retaliation
claim because plaintiff “merely advanced spative theories” that failed to demonstrate

pretext);see also Webster v. Shulkitd7 F. App’x 535, 542 (10th €i2017) (holding that
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plaintiff's “claims don'’t rise abovéhe level of specutan, which is insufficient to demonstrate
pretext”).

Also, plaintiff has made spelative assertions about theason for her termination that
flatly contradict her race disonination claim. By affidavitplaintiff asserts that she “was
terminated because [Stephanie Hendersonhélposition was in jeopardy due to the fact
[plaintiff] possess[es] a Master’s Degree in PuBlaministration with a major in Administration
and Organization.” Doc. 149-2 at 4 (Fuller Aff1). Also, plaintiff contends, Ms. Henderson
considered plaintiff a threat to her Site Manager positidn.Even if the court accepts as true
plaintiff's assertion that DCF terminatedrlemployment because Ms. Henderson considered
plaintiff a threat to her job, thigason won't support a findirgf pretext or amount to illegal
race discrimination under Title VII.

Fourth, plaintiff claims that DCF offered incoistent reasons for her termination. Doc.
152 at 2. The summary judgment facts won’'t suptiis assertion. Plaintiff's Affidavit asserts
that Stephanie Henderson escorted plaitdgifiuman Resources oretlay of plaintiff's
termination. Doc. 149-2 at 6 (Fuller Aff.  13\nd, plaintiff contends, Ms. Henderson told
plaintiff that she didn’t knowvhy Human Resources had summoned plaintiff for a meelthg.
Accepting plaintiff’'s assertions a true, D@Ever provided inconsistent reasons for the
termination. Ms. Henderson merely told plaintitat she didn’t know #areason for the meeting
with Human Resources. She never told piiithat DCF was terminating her employment,
much less a reason for that dgeon that differs fronDCF'’s stated reason for the termination.
Instead, the summary judgmeatfts establish that DCF has givenly one reason for plaintiff’s

termination: poor work performance.
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Finally, DCF asserts that the summary judgment facts support an inference that DCF’s
proffered reason for the termination is natpxtual. DCF asserts that the “same actor”
inference applies here because Mr. Kimsey was the “same actor” involved in plaintiff's hiring
and firing within a tve-month period.

The “same actor inference” is premised onitlea that it “makes little sense to deduce”
that an individual would hire aamployee, being fully aware of hexce, and then fire that same
employee a short time later based on the employee’s Aattenio v. Sygma Network, Ind58
F.3d 1177, 1183 (10th Cir. 2006). The Tenth Circuit helntoniothat “in cases where the
employee was hired and fired by the same perstiinaa relatively short time span, there is a
strong inference that the employer’s statexbom for acting against the employee is not
pretextual.” Id. (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, the undisputed facts establish tH&AP Manager Lewis Kimsey was one of two
people who recommended that DCF rehire plimti2016. Also, during the hiring process, Mr.
Kimsey allowed plaintiff to rely on her 2014 wopkerformance with LIER in lieu of providing
an employer reference. Then, less than twatims later, Mr. Kimsey was one of two people
who recommended that DCF terminate pléfiistemployment based on substandard work
performance. Thus, DCF contends, the same adtmence should apply hee But, our Circuit
has “yet to decide whether the same-actor imieggeapplies when a person who was instrumental
in the hiring and termination of an employee . . . is not necessaripkbeecisionmaker.”
Matthews v. Euronet Worldwide, In271 F. App’x 770, 773 n.2 (10th Cir. 2008) (citing
DeJarnette v. Corning Inc133 F.3d 293, 298 (4th Cir. 1998) (applying the same-actor inference
where a supervisor knew plaintiffas pregnant when she was Hiend the supervisor was also

one of three people involved tihe decision to discharge herplere, the undisputed facts don’t
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establish that Mr. Kimsey was the sole decisiaken in plaintiff's hring and firing. So, the
court declines to apply the same actor inference.

In any event, the court need not apply tHerence to conclude & summary judgment
is warranted. Even without the same actor infeee plaintiff has failed to come forward with
disputed facts sufficient to prast a triable issue whether DClgsoffered reason for plaintiff's
termination is pretextSee, e.gBraun v. St. Pius X Parisk09 F. App’x 750, 753 (10th Cir.
2013) (affirming summary judgmengbause plaintiff had failed totablish pretext “whether or
not [the Circuit] appl[iedihe ‘same actor’ inference”).

In sum, the summary judgment facts, vievire@laintiff's favor, pesent no triable issue
whether DCF’s legitimate, non-discriminatory reador plaintiff's termination is unworthy of
belief. The court thus grants summarggment against plaifitis Title VII claim.°
Il. Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration of the Court’s July 24, 2019 Order

Next, the court addresses pitiif’'s “Motion for Reconsi@ration Granting Defendants’
Dismissal.” Doc. 159. On July 24, 2019, thertgranted defendants Stephanie Henderson,
Sandra Kimmons, Lewis Kimsey, and Lisa Letk(“the individual deendants”) Motion to
Dismiss. Doc. 153. The court held thaiptiff's § 1983 claims against the individual
defendants failed to state a atefor relief because plaintifiever identified the substantive
federal right that the individual tendants allegedly had violatett. at 5. So, the court
dismissed the individual defendants from the cadde.

Plaintiff challenges the coustruling with her Motion foReconsideration. Our court

treats motions that ask it to revise dispositive orders decided before the court has entered

10 DCF also moves for summary judgment aggiteintiff's punitive damages claim under Title

VII. Doc. 141 at 14. Because the court grants sumioagment against plaintiff's Title VII claim, the
court need not decide whether DCF is entitled to summary judgment against plaintiff's punitive damages
claim.
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judgment as motions for reconsideration under D. Kan. RuleFeBuga v. Eickoff236 F.R.D.
546, 549 (D. Kan. 2006) (treating a motion to alteamend a dispositive but non-final order as
a motion for reconsideration under D. Kan. Rule.73) Kan. Rule 7.3 requires a movant to file
a motion seeking reconsideration within 14 daysrahe order is filed. D. Kan. Rule 7.3(b).
Plaintiff filed her Motion for Reconsiderath on August 13, 2019—more than 14 days after the
court entered its July 24, 2019 Ordé&o, plaintiff's request for reconsideration is untimely
under the court’s lcal rule.

Also, D. Kan. Rule 7.3 requires a movant to base a motion for reconsideration on:
“(1) an intervening change in controlling la(2) the availability of new evidence; or (3) the
need to correct clear error to prevennifest injustice.” D. Kan. Rule 7.3(b3ge also Ferluga
236 F.R.D. at 549 (applying D. Kan. Rule 7.3(batdispositive order anmubting that the rule’s
requirements “are essentially identical’Red. R. Civ. P. 59(e)). So, “a motion for
reconsideration is appropriate [only] where ttourt has misapprehended the facts, a party’s
position, or the controlling law.Ferluga 236 F.R.D. at 549 (citin§ervants of Paraclete v.
Does 204 F.3d 1005, 1012 (10th Cir. 2000)). Such awondtis not [an] appropriate [device] to
revisit issues already addressechdvance arguments that abhlave been raised in prior
briefing.” Id. (citing Servants of Paraclet04 F.3d at 1012).

Plaintiff satisfies none of thiairee prerequisites for theur to reconsider its Order
dismissing the individual defendants. Pldfrriever identifies any intervening change in
controlling law. Plaintiff neer asserts that new evidence is available now to oppose the
individual defendants’ dismissalgarments. And plaintiff never gues there is a need to correct
clear error or prevent manifesjustice that requires the couotreconsider its earlier ruling.

Instead, plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideratiorgaes the merits of her Title VII claim against
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DCF—i.e,, that DCF terminated her employment because of her race. These arguments are not a
proper reason for the court to reconsideditly 24, 2019 Order—an Order that concluded
plaintiff had failed to state aglisible 8 1983 claim against the individual defendants.

For all these reasons, plaintiff has failedhow that reconsideratn of the court’s July
24, 2019 Order is timely or warranted under DnKRule 7.3. The court thus declines to
reconsider its July 24, 2019 Order. Aitdjenies plaintiff'smotion (Doc. 159).
[I. DCF’s Motion to Review Magistrate Order of April 9, 2019

Finally, the court considers "G Motion to Review Magisate Order of April 9, 2019.
Doc. 129. On April 9, 2019, Magistrate Judgméda P. O’Hara issued an Order granting
plaintiff's Motion to Compel DCF to provide the names and addresses of each person DCF
employed during the 2016 LIEAP. Doc. 128. Im kmotion to Compel, @intiff explained that
she required the information because her cowsrkad information about what supervisors told
employees during their morning etengs about their job respahbiities, “including whether
they were required to progga set minimum number of EAP application per day.1d. at 2.
Judge O’Hara concluded that tbeployee contact information wadeeant to plaintiff's claims
and that the Kansas Administrative Regulatidiasnot protect the contact information from
disclosure.ld. at 3—4. Thus, Judge O’Hara ordered DiGlprovide the contact information to
plaintiff by April 19, 2019.1d. at 4.

DCF filed an Objection to Judge O’Har&@sder under Fed. R. Civ. P. 72 and D. Kan.
Rule 72.1.4. Doc. 129. But, DCF also complngth its obligation to provide the contact
information to plaintiff by April 19, 2019, as Judge O’Hara had ordeg8sDoc. 133
(Certificate of Service showg service of DCF’s Supplemental Response to Plaintiff's

Interrogatories), Doc. 137 at(representing that DCF complievith Judge O’Hara’s Order
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because DCF provided to plaintiff by email ané. mail a supplemental response to discovery
with the last known addresses of plaingf€oworkers in the 2016 LIEAP), Doc. 138 (Judge
O’Hara’s Order denying plaintiff's “Motion tédvise” as moot because DCF had provided the
supplemental discovery as Judg#lara had ordered).

DCF objects to Judge O’Hara’s Order because, DCF argues, it allows plaintiff to conduct
discovery after the discovedeadline has ended, and ipdees DCF from discovering
information about what previousiyndisclosed witnesses may knatout plaintiff's allegations.
Thus, DCF asks the court to overturn Ju@ddara’s Order and derplaintiff's Motion to
Compel. Alternatively, DCF asks the court {&) reopen discovery, YZompel plaintiff to
respond to DCF’s interrogatory that asks miiffi to identify each person she contends has
knowledge about her race discrimination claim, and (3) allow the parties to conduct an additional
three months of discovery so that DCF can demwg/ new witnesses plaintiff identifies. Doc.
129 at 3.

Plaintiff never has responded to DCF’s Mutito Review. For this reason, the court
could grant DCF’s Motion to Review as unoppos8eeD. Kan. Rule 7.4(b) (“If a responsive
brief or memorandum is not filed within the Ran. Rule 6.1(d) time requirements, the court
will consider and decide the motion as an unested motion. Ordinarily, the court will grant
the motion without further notice.”). Buigcause the court has granted DCF’s summary
judgment motion against plaintiff's Title VII clai, the Motion to Review Judge O’Hara’s April
9, 2019 Order is moot. Judge O’Hara’s Ordes het prejudiced DCF by allowing plaintiff to
secure additional discovery aftbe discovery deadline. Theurt thus denies as moot the

Motion to Review (Doc. 129).
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IV.  Conclusion

For the reasons explainedetbourt grants DCF’s Motiofor Summary Judgment. And
the court dismisses this case. Also, the courtrilile parties’ other pending motions as set forth
above.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendant Kansas
Department of Children and Families’s MotitmReview Magistrate Order of April 9, 2019
(Doc. 129) is denied as moot.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT defendant Kansas Department of Children and
Families’s Motionfor Summary Judgment (2. 140) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT plaintiff Clara R. Fuller’s Motion for
Reconsideration for an Extension of TimeRespond to Summary Judgment (Doc. 146) is
denied as moot.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT plaintiff Clara R. Full€'s Motion to Strike
Exhibit Three (Doc. 148) is denied.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT plaintiff Clara R. Fuller’s Motion for
Reconsideration (Doc. 159) tife court’s July 24, 2019 @er dismissing the individual
defendants is denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 20th day of September, 2019, at Kansas City, Kansas.

s/ Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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